

An ISO 9001:2015 Company

Coating Thickness Gauge MODEL - KM-EP-770P1 User Manual

V1.7



Table of Contents

4

	T
1. 1 Features	1
1. 2 Application	1
1. 3 Principle of Measurement	2
1. 4 Supply Information	2
1. 5 View	3
1. 6 Specifications	6
2. Use The Gauge	8
2.1 Replacing the Battery	8
2. 2 Basic Measurement Step	8
2. 3 User Interface	9
2. 4 Measure Mode	10
2. 5 Group Mode	10
2.6 Statistics	11

1 Introductions

2.7 Probe Mode	12
2. 8 Storage	12
2.9 Recall and Delete Readings	12
2. 10 High and Low Limit Alarm	13
2. 11 Unit	-14
2.12 Speed	-14
2.13 Data Download	15
2.14 Auto Power off	15
2.15 Measurement Accuracy	15
3. Factors of Affecting Measurement Accuracy-	16
4. Calibration	17
4.1 Zero Calibration	18
4.2 Multi-point Calibration	18
4.3 Shot-blasted Surfaces	19
4.4 Clear Calibration	19
5. Trouble Shooting	20

1. Introductions

This compact gauge can be used for non-destructive coating thickness measurement of non-magnetic coatings, e.g. paint, enamel, chrome on steel, and insulating coatings, e.g. paint and anodizing coatings on non-ferrous metals.

1.1 Features

- 128*128 dot matrix LCD display, standard menu operations;
- Two measure mode: single and continuous;
- Two group mode:direct(DIR) and general(GEN), readings will be lost when power off in direct mode, and not be lost in general mode. Readings can be stored for each group;
- Zero point calibration and multi-point calibration(up to 4 points) for each group;
- User can recall, delete specified readings, or delete group readings;
- Statistics display: mean, minimum, maximum and standard deviation;
- Three probe mode:auto, magnetic and eddy current;
- User can set high or low limit alarm for each group;
- Power off automatically;
- USB interface to data transmission;
- Low battery and error indication ;

1.2 Application

This gauge is designed for non-destructive, fast and precise coating thickness measurement. The principal applications lie in the field of corrosion protection. It is ideal for manufacturers and their customers, for offices and specialist advisers, for paint shops and electroplaters, for the chemical, automobile, ship building and aircraft industries and for heavy engineering. It is suitable for laboratory, workshop and outdoor use.



1.3 Principle of Measurement

The coating thickness gauge work either on the magnetic induction principle or on the eddy current principle, depending on the type of probe used. This gauge has internal F probe and N probe.

F probe work on magnetic induction principle and should be used for non-magnetic coatings such as aluminium, chrome, copper, zinc, paint and varnish, enamel, rubber etc., on an iron or steel substrate; It is also suitable for alloyed and hardened magnetic steel(however, not suitable for austenic steel).

N Probe work on the eddy current principle and should be used for insulating coatings e.g. paint, anodizing, ceramics, etc., on all non-ferrous metals such as aluminium, copper, zinc die casting, brass etc. and on austenitic stainless steels.

1. 4 Supply Information

The package include:

- Coating Thickness gauge
- Substrate(Optional)
- Standard foil(Optional)
- CD and USB cable(Optional)
- Two 1. 5V AAA battery
- User manual

1.5 View

1.5.1 Applied to P1 and P1S

- 1. Current work group (DIR and GENn,n=1-4)
- 2. High and low limit alarm 1
- 3. Probe mode:AUTO, MAG, EDDY
- 4. Measuring readings display
- 5. Statistics display
- 6. Auto-power off indication
- 7. USB connecting indication
- 8. Reserved
- 9. Unit(um、mm、mils)
- 10. Low battery indication
- 11. CAL-Calibration key
- 12. POWER on/off key
- 13. ZERO calibration key
- 14. UP key
- 15. DOWN key
- 16. LEFT key(menu, select, sure)
- 17. RIGHT key(cancel, exit, back,

backlight switch)

- 18. Probe
- 19. V groove
- 20. Standard foil
- 21. Substrate
- 22. Battery compartment
- 23. Substrate type(F: ferrous; N: non-ferrous)
- 24. USB interface



1.5.2 Applied to P2

- 1. Current work group (DIR and GENn,n=1-4)
- 2. High and low limit alarm
- 3. Probe mode:AUTO, MAG, EDDY
- 4. Measuring readings display
- 5. Statistics display
- 6. Auto-power off indication
- 7. USB connecting indication
- 8. Reserved
- 9. Unit(um、mm、mils)
- 10. Low battery indication
- 11. CAL-Calibration key
- 12. POWER on/off key
- 13. ZERO calibration key
- 14. **UP** key
- 15. DOWN key
- 16. LEFT key(menu、select、sure)
- 17. **RIGHT** key(cancel, exit, back,
 - backlight switch)
- 18. Probe
- 19. V groove
- 20. Standard foil
- 21. Substrate
- 22. Battery compartment
- 23. Substrate type(F: ferrous; N: non-ferrous)
- 24. USB interface



1.5.3 Applied to P3 and P4

- 1. Current work group (DIR and GENn,n=1-4)
- 2. High and low limit alarm
- 3. Probe mode:AUTO, MAG, EDDY
- 4. Measuring readings display
- 5. Statistics display
- 6. Auto-power off indication
- 7. USB connecting indication
- 8. Reserved
- 9. Unit(um、mm、mils)
- 10. Low battery indication
- 11. Reserved
- 12. POWER on/off key
- 13. Reserved
- 14. UP key(or delete function)
- 15. DOWN key(or zero calibration)
- 16. LEFT key(menu、select、sure)
- 17. RIGHT key(cancel, exit, back,
 - backlight switch)
- 18. Probe
- 19. V groove
- 20. Standard foil
- 21. Substrate
- 22. Battery compartment
- 23. Substrate type(F: ferrous; N: non-ferrous)
- 24. USB interface



୭

// WARNING

GULATIONS AN

CLING OF T

MANUAL FOR

2x1.5V AAA

5

1.6 Specifications for P1 and P2

Product Code	P1	L	P1S		P2 ①		
Probe	Probe F	Probe N	Probe F	Probe N	Probe F	Probe N	
Measuring principle	Magnetic induction	Eddy Currents	Magnetic induction	Eddy Currents	Magnetic induction	Eddy Currents	
Measuring range	0 to 2000um (0	0 to 2000um (0 to 78.7mils)		8.7mils)	0 to 5000um (0 to 196.8m	ils) 0 to 3000um (0 to 118.1mils)	
Accuracy	± (2.5%+1um) ± (2.5%+0.039mils)		\pm (2%+1um) \pm (2%+0.039mils)		\pm (2%+1um) \pm (2%+0.039mils)	\pm (2%+1um) \pm (2%+0.039mils)	
Resolution	0um~99.9um(0.1um) 100um~999um(1um) >1000um(0.01mm)		0um~99.9um(0.1um 100um~999um(1um >1000um(0.01mm)	i))	0um~99.9um(0.1um) 100um~999um(1um) >1000um(0.01mm)	0um~99.9um(0.1um) 100um~999um(1um) >1000um(0.01mm)	
Calibration	One point to four point calibration, zero point calibration				One point to four point cali	bration, zero point calibration	
Data group	One direct group Four general group for P1S be stored limit settings and	p(readings not b ups(max. 320 rea I). NOTE: each g calibration	e stored to memory) adings for P1 and max. roup have individual st	2000 readings atistics, alarm	One direct group(readings not be stored to memory) Four general groups(max. 2000 readings will be stored automatically) NOTE: each group have individual statistics, alarm limit settings and calibration		
Statistics	No. of readings	, mean, minimun	n, maximum and standa	ard deviation	No. of readings, mean, minimum, maximum and standard deviation		
Jnits	um , mm, mils				um , mm, mils		
Alarm	User can set the Alarm icon displ	e high/low alar ayed on LCD wh	m limit en over the limit		User can set the high/low alarm limit Alarm icon displayed on LCD when over the limit		
finimum curvature radius convex	5mm				5mm		
inimu m curvature radius concave	25mm				25mm		
Minimum measuring area	Diameter 20mn	ı			Diameter 20mm		
linimum thickness of substrate	0.2mm	0.05mm	0.2mm	0.05mm	0.2mm	0.05mm	
Maximum measuring rate	Two readings pe	er second			Two readings per second		
Computer interface	Download data	via USB			Download data via USB		
Power supply	Two 1.5V AAA	battery			Two 1.5V AAA battery		
Operation environment	Temperature:	0 to 50°C(32 to	122"F); humidity : 2	0% to 90%rh	Temperature: 0 to 50°C (32 to 122°F); humidity : 20% to 90%rh		
Storage environment	Temperature:	-10 to 60°C(14 to	o 140°F)		Temperature: -10 to 60°C(14 to 140°F)		
Standard Compliance	CE ROHS FCC I	SO2178 ISO2360)		CE ROHS FCC ISO2178 ISO2360		
Size	110mm ×53mm ×	24mm(4.33" ×2.0	19" ×0.94")		110mm×53mm×24mm(4.33" ×2.09"×0.94")		
Case Material	ABS; 92g (3.24	4 oz)			ABS; 92g (3.24 oz)		

Note:

The final specifications may be upgraded without notifying. For more details, please consult with yoursupplier.



1.7 Specifications for P3 and P4

Product Code	P3			P4		
Probe	Probe F		Probe N	Probe F		Probe N
Measuring principle	Magnetic induction		Eddy Currents	Magnetic induction		Eddy Currents
Measuring range	0 to 1500um (0 to 59mils)		0 to 1500um (0 to 59mils)	0 to 500um (0 to 19.68mil	s)	0 to 500um (0 to 19.68mils)
Accuracy	\pm (2%+1um) \pm (2%+0.039mils)		\pm (2%+1um) \pm (2%+0.039mils)	\pm (1%+1um) \pm (1%+0.039mils)		\pm (1%+1um) \pm (1%+0.039mils)
Resolution	0um~99.9um(0.1um) 0 100um~999um(1um) 1 >1000um(0.01mm) 1		0um~99.9um(0.1um) 100um~999um(1um) >1000um(0.01mm)	0um~99.9um(0.1um) 100um~999um(1um)		0um~99.9um(0.1um) 100um~999um(1um)
Calibration	One point to four point calibration, zero point calibration			One point to four point calibration, zero point calibration		
Data group	One direct group(readings not be stored to memory) Four general groups(max. 200 readings will be stored automatically) NOTE: each group have individual statistics, alarm limit settings and calibration.			One direct group(readings not be stored to memory) Four general groups(max. 2000 readings will be stored automatically) NOTE: each group have individual statistics, alarm limit settings and calibration		
Statistics	No. of readings, mean, minimum, maximum and standard deviation			No. of readings, mean, minimum, maximum and standard deviation		
Units	um , mm, mils			um , mm, mils		
Alarm	User can set the high/low alarm limit Alarm icon displayed on LCD when over the limit			User can set the high/low alarm limit Alarm icon displayed on LCD when over the limit		
Minimum curvature radius convex	5mm			5mm		
Minimu m curvature radius concave	25mm			25mm		
Minimum measuring area	Diameter 20mm			Diameter 10mm		
Minimum thickness of substrate	0.2mm 0.05mm		0.2mm	0.05	imm	
Maximum measuring rate	Two readings per second		Two readings per second			
Computer interface	Download data via USB			Download data via USB		
Power supply	Two 1.5V AAA battery		Two 1.5V AAA battery			
Operation environment	Temperature: 0 to 50°C(32 to 122°F); humidity : 20% to 90%rh			Temperature: 0 to 50°C(32 to 122°F); humidity : 20% to 90%rh		
Storage environment	Temperature: -10 to 60°C(14 to 140°F)		Temperature: -10 to 60°C(14 to 140°F)			
Standard Compliance	CE ROHS FCC ISO2178 ISO2360			CE ROHS FCC ISO2178 ISO2360		
Size	114mm ×54mm ×25mm(4.49" ×2.13" ×0.98")			114mm ×54mm ×25mm(4.49" ×2.13" ×0.98")		
Case Material	ABS; 96g (3.78 oz)			ABS; 96g(3.78 oz)		

Note:

The final specifications may be upgraded without notifying. For more details, please consult with yoursupplier.



2. Use the Gauge

If you use the gauge for the first time, please read the chapter 3(factors of affecting measurement accuracy).

2.1 Replacing the Battery

Place the gauge upside down on a suitable surface, remove the screws from the battery compartment with a crosstip screwdriver, raise the lid of the compartment, remove battery, insert new battery according to the positive and negative poles and close the lid and fasten with screws.

2.2 Basic Measurement Step

Step 1. Prepare the sample to be measured.

Step 2. Press 🕐 key to power on.

- Note: 1. If imidisplayed, the battery is OK. Or if i displayed, the battery capacity is low, and measurement will be not reliable, and you need to replace the battery.
 - The gauge will work in factory default settings for the first time, including single measure mode, AUTO probe mode, direct group mode(DIR) etc..
 - 3. When power on, If in direct group mode(DIR), the readings display area is empty, or If in general group mode (GENn, n=1 to 4), It will display the last readings and statistics value measured before power off last time.
- Step 3. Reference to the chapter 3 to decide whether need to calibrate the gauge.
- Step 4. Start measuring. Place the probe on the sample vertically and rapidly, and after one beep(for single measure mode), raise the probe rapidly. Readings will be display on LCD, meanwhile statistics value are upgraded and displayed.
- Step 5. Do next measurement according to step 4.
- Step 6. Press 0 to power off. If not any operations within 3 min., the gauge will power off automatically. *Note:*

1. If a suspicious readings is measured, user can delete it through pressing the UP key once.

2. 3 Key and User Interface

The gauge have a standard user interface, user can use it easily.

- Left Key
 - a. To enter into menu mode from measure mode;
 - b. Left button operations in menu mode(Including "Sure", "Select", "Delete");
- Right Key
 - a. Right button operations in menu mode(Including "Cancel", "Back", "Exit"); b. Press and hold to rotate screen
 - c. Switch on/off the backlight in measure mode;
- Up Key
 - a. Move up or roll up;
 - b. Increasing; c. Delete the last readings or whole group
- Down Key
 - a. Move down or roll down; c. Zero calibration(For P3, P4)
 - b. Decreasing; d. Refresh LCD in measure mode(For P1, P2)
- Zero Calibration Key(For P1, P2)
 - a. Press and hold to do zero calibration;
 - c. Press once to back measure mode in menu mode;
 - d. Press and hold when power on to make system reset. This will restore factory settings;
- Calibration Key(For P1, P2)
 - a. Enter into calibration mode and back measure mode;



2.4 Measure Mode

Single measure mode - Place the probe on sample vertically and rapidly, and after one beep, raise it rapidly. Continuous measure mode - Place the probe on sample, and don't raise the probe, the measurement will be done continuously in a certain cycle.

2.5 Group Mode

- Direct Group(DIR)-Be intended for quick occasional readings. In this mode, data are temporarily stored in RAM, it will be lost when power off. The readings and statistics can be shown on the LCD. When the RAM is full, measuring will continue, the oldest readings will be deleted mean while the new readings is stored. Each new readings is stored, the statistics will be upgraded and shown.
- General Group(GENn, n=1 to 4)-In this mode, data are stored in memory and not lost when power off. When the memory is full, measuring will continue, a "fl" will be shown on the left of readings, the new readings will not be stored, and statistics will not be upgraded.

NOTE: Each group(DIR or GEN) has individual high/low limit alarm, zero calibration and multi-point calibration,

and these settings will stored in memory when user changes them.

Method of switch group mode

- a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);
 - b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Options" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
 - c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Group Mode" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
 - d. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate your intended item, and press "Left Key" once to select the item and go back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.

2. 6 Statistics

The gauge calculates the statistics for stored readings of each group independently, including mean, minimum, maximum and standard deviation. In direct group mode, when RAM is full, the oldest readings will be deleted meanwhile the new readings will be stored, and the statistics will be upgraded. In general group mode, when memory is full, new readings will not be stored and the statistics will not be upgraded. If user deletes the specified readings or whole group readings, the statistics will also be upgraded.

- Browse the statistics through menu
 - a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);
 - b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Browse Stat." item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
 - c. Press "Right Key" once to go back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.

2.7 Probe Mode

There are three probe modes: AUTO, MAG and EDDY. In AUTO mode, the probe can automatically determine the type of substrate measured. In MAG mode, the probe can only measure on magnetic substrates. In EDDY mode, the probe can only measure on non-ferrous metal substrates. When a magnetic substrate detected, an "F" will be shown on the right of readings, and when a non-ferrous metal detected, a "N" will be shown. User can switch probe mode as below.

a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);

- b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Options" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
- c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Probe Mode" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
- d. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate your intended item, and press "Left Key" once to select the item and go back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.

2.8 Storage

In general group mode(GENn), readings and statistics will be stored and not be lost when power off. In direct group mode(DIR), readings and statistics will be lost when power off.

Each group has individual high/low limit alarm, zero calibration and multi-point calibration, user can change these settings, and they will be stored.

In addition, user can set the system settings(e.g.: Measure Mode,Group Mode,Probe Mode etc.), these settings will also be stored.

Note: When battery low, user must replace the battery timely. Before replacing the battery, you need to power off the gauge firstly.

2.9 Recall and Delete Readings

• Delete the last readings(Tips: If in measure mode, press the "UP Key" once by one beep).

a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);

- b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Delete Data" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
- c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Current Data" item, and press "Left Key" once. A dialog box will be displayed.
- d. Press "Left Key" once to confirm the selection and go back, or "Right Key" to cancel and back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.
- Delete whole group readings(Tips: If in measure mode, hold the "UP Key" by one beep)
 - a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);
 - b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Delete Data" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
 - c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Current Group" item, and press "Left Key" once. A dialog box will be displayed.
 - d. Press "Left Key" once to confirm the selection and go back, or "Right Key" to cancel and back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.
- Recall and delete specified readings
 - a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);
 - b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Recall" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
 - c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to recall the readings(n/Total number, "n" indicates the index of current shown readings). User can press "Left Key" to delete current shown readings.
 - d. Press "Right Key" to go back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.

Note: While readings deleted, the statistics will be upgraded automatically.

2.10 High and Low Limit Alarm

Each group has individual high/low limit alarm settings. When switch the work group, the applied alarm settings will also be switched automatically.

13

- Set high/low limit for the current work group as below.
 - a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);

- b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Limit" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
- c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Settings" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
- d. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate your intended item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
- e. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to increase or decrease the limit value. If hold the key, the limit value will be increased or decreased continuously.
 - f. Press "Left Key" to confirm new limit value, or "Right Key" to cancel and back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.
- Clear high/low limit
 - a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);
 - b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Limit" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
 - c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Clear" item, and press "Left Key" once. A dialog box will be displayed.
 - d. Press "Left Key" once to confirm the selection and go back, or "Right Key" to cancel and back. Press "ZERO Key" to back measure mode.
 - Note:
 While readings exceed high limit, the alarm symbol
 will be shown on the LCD, and while readings exceed

 low limit, the alarm symbol
 Will be shown.
 Meanwhile, the red led backlight will be on.

2.11 Unit

User can select the shown unit(Including um,mm and mils) for the readings. Switch the unit as below.

a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);

b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Options" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;

c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Unit Settings" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;

d. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to select intended item. Press "Left Key" to confirm it.

2.12 Speed

Generally, The faster the measuring speed for probe, the worse accuracy. User can select different measuring speed for probe according to user's application fields as below:



a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);
b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Options" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Speed" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
d. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to select intended item. Press "Left Key" to confirm it.

2.13 Data Download

User can use the USB cable to connect the gauge with PC and download stored readings . If USB connected, the symbol <u>[5]</u>will be shown on the bottom of the LCD. When USB connected firstly, the PC need to install driver and software for this application. User can get the driver and software from supplier or download them from specified website. For more details, user can consult with the supplier.

2. 14 Auto Power off

User can power off via **(b)** eye manually. In addition, for save power, the gauge will turn off automatically in default if not any operations. Before turn off automatically, user will hear several beeps, and then user can press timely any key to let the gauge restart timing and continue working. Enable or Disable this function as below. a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);

b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Options" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Auto Poweroff" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;
d. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to select intended item. Press "Left Key" to confirm it.

2. 15 Measurement Accuracy

Factors of affecting measurement accuracy, please reference the chapter 3. Under normal use and careful calibration, all subsequent measurements will lie within the guaranteed measuring tolerance. When using the statistics programmer for obtaining a mean value it is advisable to place the probe several times at a typical measuring spot or at fixed measuring spot. Any false readings or outliers can be deleted

immediately. The final reading derives from the statistical calculation and from the guaranteed tolerance levels of the gauge. T(coating thickness)=M(mean value) \pm S(standard deviation) \pm A(measuring accuracy).

3. Factors of Affecting Measurement Accuracy

User needs to know the factors of affecting measurement accuracy before using the gauge. The factors are listed as below.

Factors Principle	Magnetic	EddyCurrent	Recommendations	
Magnetic properties	√		Need to calibrate	
Electrical properties		4	Need to calibrate	
Curvature radius	√	4	Reference the chapter 1.6, and need to calibrate	
Substrate thickness	√	1	Reference the chapter 1.6, and need to calibrate	
Size of measuring area	√	1	Reference the chapter 1.6, and need to calibrate	
Surface roughness	√	1		
Position and shape	~	√		
Sample deformed	√	4	Avoid to measure on too soft or too thin material	
Adhesive substances	1	1	Clean probe and sample	
Strong magnetic field	~		Be away from strong magnetic field	
Temperature and humidity	√	4	Recalibrate at the same environment conditions	
Measuring operations	√	4	Read the chapter 2.2	
Low battery	1	4	Replace the battery	
Probe wear	1	4	Consult with suppler	

The measured sample must correspond to the calibration sample in substrate material properties, curvature radius, or the more closely the measured sample matches the calibration sample, the more accurate the measuring. In addition, curvature radius should meet the minimum value as specified in chapter 1.6.

The minimum substrate thickness and the minimum measuring areas as specified in chapter 1.6 should be taken into account. Need to recalibrate(Zero/Multi-point) for different measured sample for higher accuracy.

To achieve high-accuracy readings, it is advisable to log calibration values several times. In this way, the gauge will automatically establish a mean calibration value. The high-accuracy calibration is an obvious advantage when calibrating on uneven and rough surfaces.

The point at which measurement is made should always be similar with the calibration point, especially in the case of corners and edges of small parts.

Important Note: The enclosed substrates are intended for checking accuracy only and not for calibration purposes.

User must recalibrate the gauge according to practical applications.

4. Calibration

User should read the chapter 3 firstly, and must recalibrate the gauge according to measured product sample. The gauge provides zero calibration and multi-point calibration.

- Zero calibration: Recommended if measuring errors up to \pm (2%+1um).
- Multi-point calibration: The permitted measuring errors will be max. ± (1~2%+1um). If only one point calibration, it is recommended if readings to be expected will be close to the calibration value. If more than one point calibration, it is recommended for measurements on rough surfaces or for precise measurements on smooth surfaces if thickness to be expected lies between that of calibration point.



4.1 Zero Calibration C Tips: For **P3 or P4**, press and hold "DOWN Key" to start zero calibration, and press again to exit a. Press and hold "ZERO Key" until hearing "beep...beep beep...". The LCD will flash "ZERO" symbol.

b. Place the probe on uncoated sample and raise it after one beep.

- c. Repeat step b and c several times to obtain mean value.
- d. Finished. Press "ZERO Key" to exit calibration mode.

4. 2 Multi-point Calibration

- a. In measure mode, press "CAL key" once to enter into calibration mode.
- b. Zero calibration according to chapter 4.1 and then lay the calibration foil on an uncoated sample.
- c. Apply the probe and raise it after one beep. a readings will be shown.Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to increase or decrease the readings or hold the key for changing continuously until the required foil thickness value shown.The LCD will show current calibration point "Ptn X". The "X" will be flashing.
- d. Apply the probe to the test sample several times, and every time raise the probe, if press "CAL Key", after "beep...beep beep...", it will establish a mean value for current calibration point.
- e. Press "Left Key" to confirm and end current calibration point, and the "X" will be steady. Or press "Right Key" to cancel and end current calibration point.
- f. For more calibration points, use another calibration foil and repeat the step c, d and e.
- g. Finished. Press "CAL Key" to exit calibration mode.

Note:

- a. Each group has individual zero calibration and multi-point calibration.
- b. When calibration up to 4 points, user must clear the finished points firstly to restart.
- c. Readings measured before will not be affected by new calibration.
- d. In calibration mode, measuring will not be affected.
- e. Recommended to work in single measure mode when calibrating.

Tips: For P3 or P4, user needs to access the menu to enable or disable multi-point cal: Press Left key->Select "Calibration"->Select "Point Cal"->Select "Enable" or "Disable"



4.3 Shot-blasted Surfaces

The physical nature of shot-blasted surfaces results in coating thickness readings that are too high. The mean thickness over the peaks can be determined as follows.

Method one:

a. The gauge should be calibrated according to 4.2(one or more points calibration). Use a smooth calibration sample with the same curvature radius and the same substrate as the later measuring sample.

b. Take approx. 10 readings on the uncoated, shot-blasted sample to produce the mean value A.

c. Take approx. 10 further readings on the coated, shot-blasted test sample to produce the mean value B.

d. The coating thickness $T=(B-A)\pm S$. The "S" is the greater standard deviation of step b and step c.

Method two:

a. The gauge should be calibrated according to 4.2(one or more points calibration) on the shot-blasted sample.

b. Take approx. 10 readings on the test sample to produce the mean value that used as final coating thickness.

4.4 Clear Calibration

User can clear calibration to start new applications. When there are incorrect calibration, User should also clear it.

a. Press "Left Key" once to enter into menu mode("Root" directory);

b. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Calibration" item, and press "Left Key" once to enter in;

c. Press "Up Key" or "Down Key" to activate "Clear All" item(Note: User can decide to clear only part of them, please see the menu for details), and press "Left Key" once. A dialog box will be displayed.

19

d. Press "Left Key" once to confirm the selection and go back, or "Right Key" to cancel and back.

Note:

All operations are limited in current work group, and the other groups will not be affected.

5. Trouble Shooting

If the instrument is no response and can't be turned on, you can remove the battery, and a few minutes later, reinstall the battery, and try again. If the problem persists, please contact with your supplier for help.

The following errors can be remedied by system reset: -Illogical readings -Several of the keys don't work

Reset to factory settings(For P1, P2):

- 1. Power off the gauge.
- 2. Press and hold "ZERO Key" and then power on the gauge.
- 3. Release the "ZERO Key" until a dialog box of system reset shown on the LCD.
- 4. Press "Left Key" to confirm. The gauge will restart automatically.

Reset to factory settings(For P3, P4):

1. Power off the gauge.

- 2. Press and hold "POWER Key" until a dialog box of system reset shown on the LCD.
- 4. Press "Left Key" to confirm. The gauge will restart automatically.

Errata(For P1, P2):

1. User can press the "Down Key" to refresh LCD display(Clear error display).

2. If an error shown in menu mode, user can re-enter into the menu.



MUMBAI

TEST CERTIFICATE

DIGITAL COATING THICKNESS GAUGE

This Test Certificate warrantees that the product has been inspected and tested in accordance with the published specifications.

The instrument has been calibrated by using equipment which has already been calibrated to standards traceable to national standards.

MODEL NO.	KM-EP-770P1

SERIAL NO.

DATE: _____

ISO 9001:2015





WARRANTY

Each "KUSAM-MECO" product is warranted to be free from defects in material and workmanship under normal use & service. The warranty period is one year (12 months) and begins from the date of despatch of goods. In case any defect occurs in functioning of the instrument, under proper use, within the warranty period, the same will be rectified by us free of charges, provided the to and fro freight charges are borne by you.

This warranty extends only to the original buyer or end-user customer of a "KUSAM-MECO" authorized dealer.

This warranty does not apply for damaged Ic's, fuses, burnt PCB's, disposable batteries, carrying case, test leads, or to any product which in "KUSAM-MECO's" opinion, has been misused, altered, neglected, contaminated or damaged by accident or abnormal conditions of operation or handling.

"KUSAM-MECO" authorized dealer shall extend this warranty on new and unused products to end-user customers only but have no authority to extend a greater or different warranty on behalf of "KUSAM-MECO".

"KUSAM-MECO's" warranty obligation is limited, at option, free of charge repair, or replacement of a defective product which is returned to a "KUSAM-MECO" authorized service center within the warranty period.

THIS WARRANTY IS BUYER'S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY & IS IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. "KUSAM-MECO" SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES OR LOSSES, INCLUDING LOSS OF DATA, ARISING FROM ANY CAUSE WHATSOEVER.

All transaction are subject to Mumbai Jurisdiction.



KUSAM-MECO[®]

OFFICE ADDRESS

G 17, Bharat Industrial Estate, T. J. Road, Sewree (W), Mumbai - 400 015. INDIA. Sales Direct : (022) 24156638 Tel. : 24124540, 24181649 Email : sales@kusam-meco.co.in Website : www.kusamelectrical.com

SERVICE CENTER

Shop no.18, 1st Floor, CIDCO Shopping Complex, Plot # 9, Sector-7, Rajiv Gandhi Marg, Sanpada, Navi Mumbai - 400705. Sales Direct :(022) 27754546 Tel. :27750662, 27750292 Email : sales@kusam-meco.co.in Website : www.kusamelectrical.com

